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(2) For each year that you use the 

provisions of this section, send the Des-

ignated Compliance Officer a written 

report by March 31 of the following 

year. Include in your report the total 

number of engines you imported under 

this section in the preceding calendar 

year, broken down by engine manufac-

turer and by equipment manufacturer. 

§ 1054.630 What provisions apply for 
importation of individual items for 
personal use? 

(a) Any individual may import pre-

viously used nonconforming engines for 

purposes other than resale, but no 

more than once in any five-year period. 

This may include up to three noncon-

forming engines imported at the same 

time. To import engines under this sec-

tion, provide to the Customs official 

the following information: 

(1) Identify your name, address, and 

telephone number. 

(2) If you are importing engines 

under this section on behalf of another 

person, identify the ultimate engine 

owner’s name, address, and telephone 

number.

(3) Identify the total number of en-

gines you are importing and specify the 

make, model, identification number, 

and original production year of each 

engine.

(4) State: ‘‘I am importing these pre-

viously used engines for personal use. I 

have not imported any engines under 

the provisions of 40 CFR 1054.630 within 

the previous five years. I am not im-

porting these engines for purpose of re-

sale. I authorize EPA enforcement offi-

cers to inspect my engines and my fa-

cilities as permitted by the Clean Air 

Act.’’

(b) We may require you to send us ad-

ditional information but you do not 

need written approval from us to im-

port engines under this section. We will 

also not require a U.S. Customs Service 

bond for engines you import under this 

section.

(c) The provisions of this section may 

not be used to circumvent emission 

standards that apply to new engines 

under this part. For example, you may 

not purchase new engines and use them 

in a trivial manner outside of the 

United States to qualify for importa-

tion under this section. 

(d) If you violate the provisions of 

this section, or submit false informa-

tion to obtain this exemption, you will 

be subject to civil penalties as specified 

in 40 CFR 1068.101(a)(2) and (b)(5). 

§ 1054.635 What special provisions 
apply for small-volume engine and 
equipment manufacturers? 

This section describes how we apply 

the special provisions in this part for 

small-volume engine and equipment 

manufacturers.

(a) If you qualify under paragraph (1) 

or (2) of the definition of small-volume 

engine manufacturer or under para-

graph (1) or (2) of the definition of 

small-volume equipment manufacturer 

in § 1054.801, the small-volume provi-

sions apply as specified in this part. 

(b) If you are a small business (as de-

fined by the Small Business Adminis-

tration at 13 CFR 121.201) that manu-

factures nonroad spark-ignition en-

gines or equipment, but you do not 

qualify under paragraph (1) or (2) of the 

definition of small-volume engine man-

ufacturer or under paragraph (1) or (2) 

of the definition of small-volume 

equipment manufacturer in § 1054.801, 

you may ask us to designate you to be 

a small-volume engine or equipment 

manufacturer. You may do this wheth-

er you began manufacturing engines 

before, during, or after 2007. We may 

set other reasonable conditions that 

are consistent with the intent of this 

section and the Clean Air Act. 

(c) Special provisions apply for 

small-volume engine and equipment 

manufacturers, as illustrated by the 

following examples: 

(1) Additional lead time and other 

provisions related to the transition to 

new emission standards. See § 1054.145. 

(2) More flexible arrangements for 

creating engine families. See § 1054.230. 

(3) Assigned deterioration factors. 

See § 1054.240. 

(4) Waived requirements for produc-

tion-line testing. See § 1054.301. 

(5) Streamlined certification provi-

sions for equipment manufacturers re-

lying on engine manufacturer’s design 

parameters. See § 1054.612. 

(6) Additional allowances under the 

Transition Program for Equipment 

Manufacturers. See § 1054.625. 
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(7) Additional special provisions 

apply for small-volume engine and 

equipment manufacturers under 40 

CFR part 1068. For example, see 40 CFR 

1068.250.

(d) Small-volume engine and equip-

ment manufacturers may ask us to 

waive or modify the requirements of 

§ 1054.690 if this would cause a serious 

economic hardship, as long as you dem-

onstrate to us in some other way that 

you will meet any potential compli-

ance-or enforcement-related obliga-

tions. In evaluating such a request, we 

would consider the extent to which 

there is a risk of noncompliance or 

nonconformity and the extent to which 

the manufacturer could be expected to 

fulfill future regulatory obligations 

and administrative judgments. We may 

also consider how many years the man-

ufacturer has certified engines without 

a violation or a finding of noncompli-

ance to determine whether to adjust 

applicable asset thresholds or to reduce 

the minimum bond value. We may set 

other reasonable conditions to ensure 

that the manufacturer will meet appli-

cable requirements. 

(e) If you use any of the provisions of 

this part that apply specifically to 

small-volume manufacturers and we 

find that you exceed the production 

limits or otherwise do not qualify as a 

small-volume manufacturer, we may 

consider you to be in violation of the 

requirements that apply for companies 

that are not small-volume manufactur-

ers for those engines produced in excess 

of the specified production limits. If 

you no longer qualify as a small-vol-

ume engine manufacturer (based on in-

creased production volumes or other 

factors), we will work with you to de-

termine a reasonable schedule for com-

plying with additional requirements 

that apply. For example, if you no 

longer qualify as a small-volume en-

gine manufacturer shortly before you 

certify your engines for the next model 

year, we might allow you to use as-

signed deterioration factors for one 

more model year. 

§ 1054.640 What special provisions 
apply to branded engines? 

The following provisions apply if you 

identify the name and trademark of an-

other company instead of your own on 

your emission control information 

label, as provided by § 1054.135(c)(2): 

(a) You must have a contractual 

agreement with the other company 

that obligates that company to take 

the following steps: 

(1) Meet the emission warranty re-

quirements that apply under § 1054.120. 

This may involve a separate agreement 

involving reimbursement of warranty- 

related expenses. 

(2) Report all warranty-related infor-

mation to the certificate holder. 

(b) In your application for certifi-

cation, identify the company whose 

trademark you will use. 

(c) You remain responsible for meet-

ing all the requirements of this chap-

ter, including warranty and defect-re-

porting provisions. 

§ 1054.645 What special provisions 
apply for converting an engine to 
use an alternate fuel? 

A certificate of conformity is no 

longer valid for an engine if the engine 

is modified such that it is not in a con-

figuration covered by the certificate. 

This section applies if such modifica-

tions are done to convert the engine to 

run on a different fuel type. Such en-

gines may need to be recertified as 

specified in this section if the certifi-

cate is no longer valid for that engine. 

(a) Converting a certified new engine 

to run on a different fuel type violates 

40 CFR 1068.101(a)(1) if the modified en-

gine is not covered by a certificate of 

conformity.

(b) Converting a certified engine that 

is not new to run on a different fuel 

type violates 40 CFR 1068.101(b)(1) if the 

modified engine is not covered by a 

certificate of conformity. We may 

specify alternate certification provi-

sions consistent with the requirements 

of this part. For example, you may cer-

tify the modified engine for a partial 

useful life. For example, if the engine 

is modified halfway through its origi-

nal useful life period, you may gen-

erally certify the engine based on com-

pleting the original useful life period; 

or if the engine is modified after the 

original useful life period is past, you 

may generally certify the engine based 

on testing that does not involve fur-

ther durability demonstration. 
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